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2022 Annual Report

Winnipeg Police Museum and Historical Society

Note from President John Burchill

would first like to acknowledge the support of the Board Members
who generously give of their time throughout the year and
are responsible for the oversight of the Museum including the
financials, of which we have a fiduciary responsibility. We said
goodbye to long time Board Member Joe Gallagher this year, who
stepped down so Jernej Anderlic could pick up the torch. See my
profile on Joe’s remarkable career.

Due to the continued spread of the COVID virus and its variants
through 2022, we remained closed in January and February.
However, we continued to have regular meetings by “Zoom” and,
when restrictions lifted, we resumed in person meetings at the end
of March. Altogether we were open 173 days in 2022.

The Board continues to be guided by its Strategic and Business
Plans developed in 2021 to promote the preservation, collection and
exhibition of artifacts related to policing in Manitoba for the future.
In particular our focus has been on the Service’s upcoming 150th
anniversary as well as the 50th anniversary of amalgamation in 2024.

The Board wishes to thank the volunteers who generously give
of their time and expertise to ensure the Museum is a viable and
appreciated entity. The thousands of visitors that pass through
the Museum greatly benefit from their interactions with our
knowledgeable volunteers and many leave written comments
attesting to this. The Museum could not operate without these
volunteers and we would like to acknowledge and thank the
following individuals for their commitment:

Alex Katz George Walker Morris Strembicki
Chris Lundgren Jernej Anderlic Norm Rimmer
Derk Derin Ken Forsyth Peter Korzeniowski
Don Wardrop Larry Rae Ron Hodgins

Ernie Tomchuk Lawrence Giovanna Roca
Gary Walker Klippenstein Simmonds

While the Museum was closed for two months due to ongoing
pandemic restrictions, our volunteers put in a total of 1812 hours
for the remaining ten months of 2022, interacting with 2039
visitors. However, our volunteers often donate more than just
their time, often attending community events and performing the
“heavy lifting”, especially Peter Korzeniowski and Tammy Skrabek
organizing our storage room and rearranging or setting up new




displays in the museum proper. While the Board values all of our
volunteers, | would be remiss if | did not once again single out Derk
Derin. He is our “go to” person for just about everything that needs
repairing and/or restoring, especially our old cruiser cars to keep
them roadworthy.

During 2022 we were also fortunate to have Emersyn Korzeniowski
with us, who did a placement with the Museum through the Cultural
Human Resources Canada Student Grant program. She did an
excellent job converting many of the old log books into a digital
reference library.

I want to thank our major sponsors as well: the City of Winnipeg

and the Winnipeg Police Service for their support in providing

a phenomenal space for the Museum, and the Winnipeg Police
Credit Union whose continued and long-time support is very much
appreciated. | would also like to acknowledge all the current serving
and retired members who support the museum through monthly
payroll and pension deductions.

A huge thank you goes to our Curator Tammy Skrabek. The Museum
has gone through many challenges and changes since its inception
and will continue to do so. Tammy has embraced the museum with
a keen eye and vision for the future which she demonstrates almost
daily in planning displays. Tammy regularly updates the Museum’s
Facebook and website pages with new information including
upcoming events and profiles of former members of the Service
who stood out among their peers. This includes the former Chief of
the St. James Police George Maltby, who | profile later in this report.

The Museum has a fleet of 20 vehicles which includes trailers. For
the first time since 2019 we had three of our vehicles out for the
Santa Clause Parade (see Rod’s article).

Although closed for two months, the Museum continued to run its
Gift Shop virtually. Thanks to our Board Members Chris Lundgren and
Ernie Tomchuk and again Tammy for keeping it operational. The shop
has seen an increase in sales activity and clothing items available.
The Museum doesn’t make a lot of money on these sales but it indeed
increases virtual traffic and interest in the Museum and our history.

We look forward to 2023 which will no doubt see further changes and
advancements for your very progressive Winnipeg Police Museum as
we profile some of our sporting history for the World Police and Fire
Games which comes to Winnipeg in the summer of 2023!

John Burchill
President
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Activities Report

2022 AGM and Elections

With the easing of Covid restrictions, the Museum
hosted an in-person Annual General Meeting which
was held in the Winnipeg Police Headquarters
Building media room on April 12, 2022. Food

and beverages were catered by Museum Curator
Tammy Skrabek, who aside from managing a large
progressive Museum, regularly demonstrates her
amazing culinary abilities.

This year the Board had 4 Director Positions open as
aresult of completed 3-year regular terms. Election
results saw the return of incumbents Rod Hutter,
Larry Rea, and Alex Katz to renewed 3-year terms
along with newly nominated candidate Jernej
Anderlic.

The Auditor is also appointed at the AGM and
remaining consistent with past years, Mr. Ron
Storozuk was chosen to oversee the Museum’s
financial affairs. Mr. Storozuk is a retired partner of
Deloitte & Touche and has been assisting with the
Museum’s financial reporting for many years.

Executive Appointments

In accordance with the Museum’s Bylaws, the
Executive Officers are appointed at the next regular
Board meeting after the AGM. This meeting was
held on May 3, 2022, where the following Executive
appointments were ratified:

President: John Burchill
Vice-President: Rod Hutter
Treasurer: Larry Rea
Secretary: Mark Hodgson

By Rod Hutter, Vice President

Curator Position

Curator Tammy Skrabek renewed her contract
with the Winnipeg Police Museum and continued
overseeing the Museum and Exhibits for the
2022/2023 fiscal year.

Vehicle Appraisals

For the purposes of establishing values and
addressing insurance coverages, the Museum
contracted with Mr. Pat Moonui who is a certified
antique automobile appraiser and is recognized by
the Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation (MPIC)
Collector car program. During April, Mr. Moonui
made regular visits to the Museum to inspect

our fleet vehicles, photograph them, and obtain
documentation from our historical archives. Mr.
Moonie then conducted research on each vehicle to
determine its estimated value based on accepted
industry standards. His report was then submitted
to the board with options and recommendations for
the best ways to protect and insure these physical
assets and artifacts.
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Cultural Human Resources Student
Grant Program
The Museum partnered with the Cultural Human

du secteur culturel

Resources Student Grant Program to obtain funding

for an eligible student to work in the Museum from
January 1 to April 30, 2022. Assigned student Frank
Rakundo joined the Museum staff and assisted
greatly with the continued organization of the
Museum HQ Building Storage area and digital
archiving of pictures, books, and other exhibits.

The Museum later received a second grant from
the Cultural Human Resources Student Grant
Program to hire a summer student with Emersyn
Korzeniowski being taken on staff. She continued
with the scanning and digital archiving of historical
books in the Museum archives.

Digital Archiving

New Book Scanner - The Museum purchased a
new laptop and a high-quality scanner specifically
designed to scan photographs and books from

the top-down. Curator Tammy Skrabek brought
digital archiving to the next level and the Museum’s
picture database now consists of an index number,
a description of the photo, and a link to the high-
resolution photo. A location file number is also
provided to show where the original picture is
stored so it can be easily located and retrieved if
needed.

Personnel and Homicide Index Cards - Nadine
McLeod and My Nhan Tran from Traffic Division
assisted the Museum with two Digital Archiving
projects involving personnel index cards and
homicide index cards. The Winnipeg Police possess

hardcopy index cards of all employees since 1919
that were photographed and individually labeled
for digital archiving. This dynamic duo then went on
to photograph, organize and label Homicide index
cards maintained by Judy Kesterke who recently
retired from the Bureau of Police Records. These
cards form a record of all individuals who were
murdered in the City of Winnipeg and what occurred
with their cases. The digital archiving of these files
moves towards making a permanent record that
can be easily searched and accessed. The Museum
would like to thank Nadine and My for their hard
work and assistance with these projects!

Photo Warrant Cards - Museum Volunteers also
sorted and organized a large number of photo
warrant cards used as identification by Winnipeg
Police personnel over the years. Now that they
are in order, the cards will be photographed and
digitally archived in our personnel files on the
Museum Server. The Museum would like to thank
Giovanna Roca-Simmonds for her assistance and
perseverance with this project!



Firearms Business Licence

The Museum renewed our Firearms Business
Licence in February of 2022 which included the
application and a facilities inspection by RCMP
members from the office of the Chief Provincial
Firearms Officer.

Museum Warehouse

Individuals climbing on to the roof of the Museum
Warehouse caused damage which later resulted in
water leaking into the interior during heavy rains.
Repairs were completed and after the cleanup it
was determined no artifacts had been permanently
affected.

Equipment Acquisition

To assist with the repair, maintenance and restoration efforts
of vehicles and artifacts, the Museum acquired some new
equipment to both upfit the workshop and replace aging
items that were past their usable lifecycles. These tools
expand the scope of work that Museum volunteers are

able preform as we do have certified tradespeople on staff
including mechanics, welders and autobody specialists.

Some of these new purchases include:

+ Acetylene torch kit « Bench Grinder
+ MIG Welder

+ Plasma Cutter « Drill press

+ Large Air Compressor

2014 Harley Davidson Motorcycle
Donation

During 2022 the Winnipeg Police Service replaced its
fleet of 7 Harley Davidson motorcycles with 7 new
BMW 850’s with Police packages. As in the past, the
WPS Executive donated one of the decommissioned
2014 Harley Davidsons to the Police Museum to
have as an exhibit. Since the motorcycle is in such
great shape, it will likely be destined for use as an
operational vehicle for special events! The Museum
would like to thank Chief Danny Smyth, Deputy
Chief Art Stannard, and the rest of the Executive
Management Team for their generosity and support!

Endow 2
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Museum Endowment Fund

In 2022 the Museum established an Endowment fund
through the Manitoba Heritage Trust Program which
is overseen by the Winnipeg Foundation. Looking
towards the future, this will ultimately become a
small but constant and ever-increasing revenue
stream to help sustain the Museum and assist

with continued growth. Being partnered with the
Winnipeg Foundation, the Winnipeg Police Museum
will be added to their list of organizations and can
receive direct donations from those who desire.




Fleet Maintenance

During 2022 a concerted effort was put into vehicle
maintenance and addressing the needs of an aging
fleet, particularly the cruiser cars that are being
used all the time for Special Events.

1978 Ford
« Tail pipe repaired

+ Door molding and interior armrest repaired

1987 Ford LTD Crown Victoria

Winnipeg 150 Project

The year 2024 marks the 150th Anniversary of the Win-
nipeg Police (created February 23, 1874) and the 50th
Anniversary of the amalgamation of the surrounding
metropolitan police departmentsinto the Winnipeg
Police which occurred on October 21st, 1974.

Anticipated projects to be continued in 2022/2023 and
completed in time for the 150/50 anniversaries are:

« Research, identify, and record the oral histories
of surviving members from the 14 metropolitan
police departments that existed prior to
October 21, 1974.

+ Collect and catalogue any records, photographs,

« Front roller bearing assemblies x 2

« Front rotors/calipers/brake shoes/brake hoses x 2

and equipment from the 14 metropolitan police « Frontshocks x 2

departments for exhibition and display. « Rear brake pistons/Brake shoes/
« Profile the histories of the 14 metropolitan Rear brake drums x 2

police departments, their members, crimes and « Rear brake “Y” hose

occurrences, and community histories in journals,

+ Rear shocks x 2
on-line and trade publications, to engage the public.

+ New Master Cylind
+ Begin research for the writing and publishing of ewHlastertylinder

a book on the history of the Winnipeg Police and « Brake system flushed with new fluid and filled
surrounding metropolitan police departments + Tune Up (spark plugs/cap/rotor/plugs/etc)

from 1874-2024 « New set of tires including the spare

+ Apply for government heritage grants to help
achieve the Museum’s goals of preserving and
recording the history of the Winnipeg Police and
surrounding municipalities from 1874-2024. + New carburetor

1988 Dodge Diplomat
+ Frontend alignment

2000 Harley Davidson Motorcycle
« Fuel Pump



Virtual Tour Project

The Museum allocated funding
towards the research and acquisition
of equipment and software to create

a Virtual Museum Tour. Part of this
concept includes the creation of stations
where QR codes can be scanned on
smart phones or tablets to access
stories, facts, and other content
pertaining to exhibits in the Museum.
This project could be expanded into
other areas such a virtual on-line tour
accessible over the internet. This would
allow the Museum to showcase our
galleries to a worldwide audience and
facilitate the viewing of other artifacts
that are usually held in storage.
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Santa Clause Parade

After a 2-year hiatus, on November

19th, Museum volunteers once again
joined with members from the Winnipeg
Police Community Relations Division

to participate in the 2022 Santa Clause
Parade. The Police group attended with

a large contingent and had loads of fun,
engagement, and laughs while interacting
with the thousands of people lined up
along Portage Avenue to see the parade.

Special Events

With the easing of Covid
restrictions, some of the special
events the Winnipeg Police
Museum became involved with
during 2022 included:

June 17 Father’s Day car show
in Transcona

June 18 Black & White Cruiser
cars attended for a Funeral

June 18 Blue & White #361 car
attended a Car Show at River
City Ford

September 3 Cruiser car
attended for a Wedding

September 25 MACP Police
and Peace Officer Memorial

October 5
Winnipeg Police Awards Day

October 21 Association of
Manitoba Museums Conference

November 2 Winnipeg Police
“Take Your Kids to Work Day”

November 19 Santa Clause Parade

December 14 Museum Volunteer
Dinner

December 17/18 Photos with
Santa hosted at the Museum

¢
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History of the Winnipeg Police

RIVER
PATROL
UNIT

By Rod Hutter, Vice President and Ray Duma, Senior River Patrol Officer
James Ham from the WPS Media Office took many of the photographs
featured in this article
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he history of individuals patrolling the Winnipeg River systems and connecting waterways can be traced
back over 110 years to 1912, when the first Harbour Master was hired to enforce Bylaws and collect fees
for use of the Public Docks along the river frontage within the Cities of Winnipeg and St. Boniface. Over
this time, what started as a single person grew into the formation of a much larger unit with specialized
equipment capable of performing all manner of tasks and emergency response on the rivers, trails and
retention ponds located within the City.

Background - St. Andrews Locks and
the Harbour Commission

The St. Andrews Locks are situated on the Red

River at the town of Lockport, Manitoba, and were
constructed by the Dominion Governmentin 1911

at the cost of $2,000,000. They were built for the
purpose of making it possible to utilize the Red River
as a trade route between Lake Winnipeg and the
Cities of Winnipeg and St. Boniface.

After completion of the locks, the City of Winnipeg
appointed a Wharfage and Dockage Committee for
oversight of the local river frontages with members
representing the following entities:

+ City of Winnipeg Council

« City of St Boniface Council
+ Winnipeg Board of Trade

+ St. Boniface Board of Trade

This Committee held several meetings and discussed
matters of improving the Red River within the

11

limits of Winnipeg and St. Boniface. Proposed ideas
included the construction of Public Docks and other
enhancements to make the area more accessible and
functional. The Committee felt and recommended
that a Commission should be appointed which would
have complete control of the Red and Assiniboine
Rivers within the city limits of Winnipeg and St
Boniface. The Commission could then work towards
improving the harbour and increasing the river traffic.

This proposal was brought before the Dominion
Government, and on April 1, 1912, “An Act to
incorporate the Winnipeg and St. Boniface Harbor
Commissioners” was passed. The newly created
Board would consist of 5 Commissioners with 3
representing Winnipeg and 2 Representing St.
Boniface. Each member would be elected to a
3-year term.

Shortly afterwards the following founding members
were appointed by the Councils of Winnipeg and
St. Boniface:



Winnipeg

+ Mr. James Henry Ashdown

+ Lt-Col Henry Norlande Ruttan

+ Alderman George Reading Crowe

St. Boniface

+ His Worship Mayor Thomas Berry

+ Alderman Joseph Alderic Marion

Note: Henry Ruttan was the Engineer for the City of Winnipeg
from 1885-1914. James Ashdown was a member of the Winnipeg

Board of Trade since his election in 1879, and involved with a
number of projects involving expansion of the city.

The First meeting of the Winnipeg and St. Boniface
Harbour Commissioners occurred on July 29, 1912,
where Mr. Ashdown was appointed as Chairman.
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Initial endeavors for the Commission included a
complete hydrographic survey of the harbour area
under their control.

Historically, for years the rivers and banks in both
cities had been regularly used to dump garbage,
earth, and all manner of refuse materials. To combat
this activity, on January 23, 1913, the Commission
passed its first Bylaw which prohibited the dumping
of “anything whatsoever” on the banks of the rivers.
The erection of any type of structure along the
riverbank was also prohibited.

The Commission further created Regulations to
control the riverbanks, one for example being
the prohibition of any structure extending into
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the river more than 40 feet. Additionally, only the
construction of open pile docks would be allowed as
they did not impede the current versus solid docks
that contributed to silt buildup.

The Commission further petitioned the Dominion
Government to construct 3 public docks and
recommended the locations of:

+ Theriver frontage between James and Pacific
Avenues.

+ Theriver frontage along Rover Avenue across from
the City of Winnipeg’s Main Sub Station in Point
Douglas.

+ Theriver frontage between Provencher and
DuMoulin Streets in St. Boniface.
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Harbour Masters

First Harbour Master Appointment

The City of Winnipeg and St. Boniface Harbour
Commissioners Act of 1912 also provided for the
appointment of a Harbour Master to enforce By-laws
and collect fees in relation to wharfage and dockage.

On October 9, 1912, the Commission appointed
Samuel C. Taylor as the first Harbour Master. It
would appear Taylor initially performed most of

his duties on land as it wasn’t until 1916 that the
Commission purchased a motor patrol boat to assist
the Harbour Master in his assigned duties. At this
point, Taylor was mandated to regulate traffic on
the rivers and to oversee the proper protection of
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the riverbanks which was believed to help reduce
accidents on the water.

By 1918 the Commission referred to the Harbour
Master as a “Patrolman” and further mandated

that he ensure the By-Laws and Regulations of

the Commission were properly carried out and
enforced. Taylor also became responsible for the
marking of navigational aids on the rivers along with
the regulation of public skating and tobogganing.

Harbour Masters Appointed over the Years
Records indicate Harbour Master Taylor retired
around 1942 with the following succession of
appointments:

Samuel C. Taylor 1912 -1942
Harry Punton 1942 - 1967
Renee Adams 1967 - 1977
Norman Bingham 1977 - 1987
Joe Pietracci 1987 - 1998

Dennis Antony

1998 - 1999 (Acting)

Harry W. Punton, Harbourmaster
1942 - 1967

Joe Pietracci, Harbourmaster 1987-
1998
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Evolution of the Harbour Master

After a 15-year-old boy drowned, on July 22, 1948,
a Coroner’s Jury recommended changes to the
Commission which included:

1. That there be more and better supervision of
the harbour; and

2. That the Harbour Master be equipped with
the proper means and helped to carry out this
supervision.

In response, the Harbour Commission recommended
the purchase of a high-speed boat equipped with a
Police 2-way radio and loudspeaker to City Council.
After this incident, the Harbour Master worked
closely with the Winnipeg Police in the areas of
enforcement, rescue, and recovery.

After Amalgamation in 1974 when 13 surrounding
Communities merged to become the Metropolitan
City of Winnipeg, the City became responsible

for safeguarding the river systems within its
jurisdictional area.

i Y i
Dennis Antony-Acting Winnipeg
Harbourmaster 1998-1999



From 1974 to 1986 the Harbour Master worked for
the City of Winnipeg Waterworks, Waste and Disposal
Department and their duties grew to include the
marking of thin ice at water out-falls. For this service
a budget of $20,000 was allocated to the unit.

After a serious boating accident in 1986 where one
person was killed and a number of others were
injured, it became clear that a need for enforcement
of laws existed on the City river systems. As such, in
May of 1987 the City contracted Retired Winnipeg
Staff Sergeant Joe Pietracci to become the new
Harbour Master and commence enforcing Federal
Laws along with various Federal and Provincial Acts,
and Municipal Bylaws. In 1987 the city also hired
two other full-time Assistant Harbour Masters being
Dennis Antony and Ray Duma.

Joe Pietracci - Harbourmaster

Joe Pietracci originally joined the North Kildonan
Police Department as a constable in November of
1955, and was a Sergeant when the force merged

with the East Kildonan Police on January 1,1972,in
preparation for amalgamation with Winnipeg. The East
Kildonan Police (along with 11 other forces) officially

mu:gng Patar Fietr~aal

WHO |5 HEREBY CERTIFIED TO BE A RECULARLY APPOINTED
CONSTABLE OF THE NORTH KILDOMAM POLICE

15

amalgamated with the Winnipeg Police on October 21,
1974, and Pietracci transferred over while maintaining
his rank of Sergeant. Pietracci was later promoted to
Staff Sergeant during his employment with Winnipeg,
and officially retired from the force on May 9, 1987, after
being contracted by the City to be the Harbour Master.

In 1987 the Winnipeg Police Department assumed
budgetary control for the unit and received their
funding previously given to the Waterworks, Waste
and Disposal Department. Though the Winnipeg
Police oversaw the Budget, the Commissioner of
Parks, Protection and Culture retained command
and control of the Harbour Master.

Due to this unusual arrangement, the Harbour
Master was required to report directly to 3 entities:

1. The Commissioner of Planning and

Community Services (by contract)

The Riverbank Management Committee
(appointed by the City)

The Winnipeg Police Deputy Chief of
operations (budgetary control)

To understand this arrangement further, examining
the defined relationships with all 3 entities helps to
identify why this evolved:

Riverbank Management Committee

The Riverbank Committee was directly responsible
for the management and oversight of all river
related matters including pathways, riverbank
stabilization, and water quality. They were also
responsible for providing guidance and direction to
the City in relation to any river-related endeavours.
The Committee was made up of 4 City Councillors



and the Harbour Master reported to them at least
once a month. The role of the Harbour Master was
to act as the “eyes and ears” of the Committee, and
advise of any significant events either occurring or
being conducted on the waterways.

Commissioner of Planning and
Community Services

By contract, the Harbour Master reported to the
Commissioner of Planning and Community Services.
Through the Commissioner or their designate, the
Harbour Master would receive their instructions,
authorizations, and directions. The Commissioner
was also to receive all reporting, accounting,
records, and property.

Winnipeg Police Deputy Chief of
Operations

The Harbour Master was required to submit an
Annual Activity Report to the Winnipeg Police
Deputy Chief of Operations who also had oversight
of the Unit’s Budget.

This naturally caused confusion as to who was in
charge of the unit and responsible for their direct
oversight, as well as where they actually fit within
the City’s organizational structure.

City of Winnipeg Harbour Patrol

The City of Winnipeg Harbour Patrol was officially
formed in 1988 and became the City branch
responsible for enforcing numerous acts including:

» The Criminal Code of Canada
+ Canada Shipping Act
« Small Vessels Act
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« Environmental Protection Act
« Fisheries Act

« MB Off Roads Vehicle Act

+ MB Liquor Control Act

+ Municipal Bylaws

Pietracci was a large and imposing individual who
had his own style of doing business on the waterways.
He was both feared and respected, and brought a
new sense of law and order to the City’s river and trail
systems which otherwise usually saw little oversight.

Pietracci adopted the uniform scheme being used
by all City of Winnipeg employees at that time.
Since amalgamation in 1974, regular uniform shirts
were blue with rounded triangular shoulder flashes
denoting the City Department. Pietracci created a
gold “Harbour Patrol” shoulder flash for himself
which he wore on a white uniform shirt, while the
Assistant Harbour Masters and seasonal employees
wore a white shoulder flash on the standard City
powder blue uniform shirt.

To further augment manpower during the busy
summer months, the Harbour Patrol also hired

2 additional assistants for 10 weeks, and further
partnered with a Conservation Officer who patrolled
with the unit members to enforce Provincial Statutes.

During the summer, unit members would be
patrolling the rivers and other water systems and
attending incidents as required. During the winter
the members would be involved with identifying
thin ice and placing warning signs. They would
also monitor ice thickness, liaise with groups or
companies obtaining permits to use the river, and
providing education on water and ice safety.



Unit facilities were the old Pump House on the banks
of the Red River at the end of James Avenue. This
location was originally used by City Hydro to pump
water from the river to cool the generators in the
James Avenue Hydro Plant. The building was in poor
condition with no running water, and had no insula-
tion whatsoever so the heating costs were enormous.

In 1995 the Harbour Master assumed responsibility
for the staking and fencing of ice where treatment
plant outfalls were situated along the river. To
facilitate this the Unit received another $20,000

in their budget from the Waterworks, Waste, and
Disposal Department which was used to hire
another Assistant Harbour Master. This brought the
unit to 4 full-time members and one seasonal.

Harbour Patrol During the 1997 Flood of the
Century

One of the busiest spring periods for the Harbour
Patrol occurred during the 1997 Flood which
predicted water levels rising to a level not seen

in 150 years. During the flood, the Harbour Patrol
monitored the waterways and assisted other city
departments with the transportation of sandbags,
pumps, fuel, generators, hoses, and other
equipment used to combat the rising waters. The
unit also moved residents throughout the evacuated
and restricted areas, escorted Military personnel,
and conducted tours for the media and government
officials. The unit members also assisted with the
removal of floating debris to reduce hazards.

Boats were the only mode of transportation that
could access and navigate the flooded areas. They
were regularly used to check the sandbag and
earthen dykes that were not accessible by land.
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Administrative Void and Restructuring with the
Winnipeg Police

The Planning and Community Services Board of
Commissioners was dissolved in 1997 thereby leaving
the Harbour Patrol on their own with little oversight.

The full-time Assistant Harbour Masters, Dennis
Antony, Ray Duma, and Richard Puttenham retained
their employment through contracts with the

City that were always 1-year in duration. As the
administration of their unit had been historically
undefined for years, the group wished to obtain some
form of job stability and representation. This led to
their applications for membership to the Winnipeg
Police Union. Pietracci on the other hand was against
this course of action because as a retired former
Winnipeg Police member, going back to workin a
unionized position would impact his Police pension.

Acceptance of the River patrol members into the
Winnipeg Police union and scrutiny of his own
holiday time accrual and usage led to the retirement
of Pietracci in April of 1998. Dennis Antony became
the Acting Harbour Master, and the Winnipeg Police
took a serious look at taking over administration

of the Harbour Patrol. During this time the unit
makeup consisted of:

+ 1Acting Harbour Master - Special Constable

« 1Assistant Harbour Master - Special Constable

+ 2 Seasonal Patrol Assistants - one being a Special
Constable

In June of 1998, Winnipeg Police Staff Sergeant Nels
Jacobson conducted a comprehensive Audit of the
Harbour Patrol Unit. At the end of this evaluation,
the Audit/Accreditation Division recommended the
Unit be taken over by the Winnipeg Police.
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ALAH DONOEH San
Winnipeg Police Service river patrol officers (from left) Dennis Antony, Ryan
Howanyk, James Gulash, David Dg Klerck, Ray Duma, Sqt. Sharon Thum_as. and
Michael Turchyn-Braka show off their new river patrol boat. The boat, wh!nh cost
about $72,000, is powered by twin 130-hp engines and was built in Selkirk.

This Recommendation was accepted by the

Police Executive with Superintendent A. B. Taylor
being assigned in January of 1999 to oversee the
restructuring and merge. The WPA negotiated a
contract with the City for the Unit members who
were placed within the staff component of the Force,
and came to agreements on wages and additional
benefits. During this process, the organizational
name was formally changed to the Winnipeg Police
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River Patrol Unit, and it fell under the organizational
command of the Traffic Division, predominantly
because it was assumed the personnel would be
writing tickets and conducting similar types of
enforcement. The founding members were:

« Dennis Richard Antony

« Raymond Paul Duma

+ Richard Ryan Puttenham
« Corwin Vernon Reese

All 4 received Special Constable appointments
through Manitoba Justice as of March 24, 1999, and
were designated as River Patrol Officers. The unit
also received a new shoulder flash based on the
Winnipeg Police insignia being used at the time but
with “RIVER” at the top instead of “POLICE” and
“PATROL” at the bottom instead of “WINNIPEG”.

The mandate of the River Patrol would become:

« Provide a presence on the Rivers and Streams
within the City of Winnipeg.

+ Respond to calls for service relating to rivers,
streams and retention ponds and to assist the
W.P.S. Underwater Search and Recovery Unit and
the E.R.S. Water Rescue Unit as required.



+ Enforce all Federal, Provincial, and Municipal
Regulations as they pertain to the rivers, streams,
and retention ponds; and the Off Road Vehicle Act
within the City of Winnipeg.

+ Monitor the condition of the waterways and
retention ponds, and take the appropriate steps to
correct unsafe conditions and to notify the public
of same.

+ Erect and maintain all signage to ensure public
safety on the waterways and retention ponds.

+ Process permits for special use of the waterways
and retention ponds.

« Promote Public Safety with a variety of programs
and training.

The payout of Pietracci for his untaken holidays
amounted to a significant amount of money that
was never budgeted for. As such his supervisory
position was left unfilled and the River Patrol
initially operated with one of the seasonal members
being moved up to full-time. It was later decided
that a Traffic Division Supervisor would assume
oversight of the unit and the 3rd full-time position
was eliminated. Moving forward, the River Patrol
would retain 2 full-time members and use 4
seasonal or “Auxiliary” officers to augment the unit
during the busy summer months.

Antony continued using the title of “Acting River
Patrol Supervisor” until January of 2000 when

he took a leave of absence from the unit. He later
resigned effective September 25, 2002.

The unit continued to operate out of the old pump
house which underwent repairs but remained
unsuitable as a workplace for City Employees due
to the lack of running water, a functioning toilet,
and shower. Examination of the toilet determined

it flushed directly into the river which led to its
immediate decommissioning. It should be noted
that the older portions of the city had infrastructure
consisting of things like combined sewer systems
which would from time to time be overwhelmed by
heavy rains resulting in the discharge of raw sewage
into the river system.
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Plans for alternate River Patrol facilities initially
involved a partnership with the Winnipeg Fire
Department who were going to build a new
station on the banks of the Red River at the end of
Mulvey Avenue East. This building was to include
boathouses and docks where the Fire Department
Water Rescue would operate from. The original
plan included the WPS River Patrol unit having 2
offices and storage in the building and use of the
docks. The costs of the riverbank stabilization
required to construct the station were very high
however, and the Fire Department ended up
abandoning the project.

With the long-term goal of later constructing a
separate River Patrol facility that would be used
by the unit and the WPS Underwater Search and
Recovery Team, the Winnipeg Police did acquire
a small parcel of land adjacent to where the Fire
Department originally planned to build their
waterfront station.

In 2004/2005 the Winnipeg Police Service completed
the new Building for the River Patrol at the end of
Mulvey Avenue. This 3,000 square foot structure
enclosed within a fenced compound had enough
room to store all the unit’s equipment and further
allow office space, a bathroom, and a shower. The
building was meant for 2 units, and the Winnipeg
Police Underwater Search and Recovery Unit also
moved in after the decommissioning of the District 6
Police Station at 1350 Pembina Highway where their
equipment and vehicles were stored.
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The Winnipeg Police River Patrol Unit continues

to operate in 2022 with 2 full-time employees
augmented with 4 Auxiliary members during the
summer months. These additional members usually
come from the WPS Cadets as mandated by the
Collective Bargaining Agreement with the Winnipeg
Police Association.

The unit possesses a large variety of specialized
vehicles that allow members to patrol and respond
to most types of incidents that may be experienced
along the waterways and trails of Winnipeg. These
include:

+ 24-foot Boston Whaler Justice fiberglass patrol
Boat (2004)

« 18-foot Lynx Jet River Boat (2004)

« 16-foot Alummacraft Boat (2000)

+ 2014 Chevy Silverado 2500 Truck

+ 2016 Can-Am Outlander 850 Quad x 2

+ 2011 Polaris Ranger 800 XP 4x4 UTV with wheels or
tracks configurations

+ 2012 Ski-Doo Renegade 800 x 2 snowmobile

+ 2020 Ski-Doo Skandic 600 Snowmobiles

» Boat/ORV/Enclosed Trailers
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Ray Duma, August 1990

Accounts by Senior River Patrol Officer
Ray Duma

Before we can look at the early beginnings of the
River Patrol Unit and how it came to be, we must
first look at the previous history of the Harbour
Patrol Unit. This was the pre-curser to the River
Patrol Unit and three of the four full-time members
transferred over from the Harbour Patrol in 1999.

Looking back, we often referred to this era as

the “Wild West” on Winnipeg’s waterways. There
were large numbers of boaters without proper
equipment, and issues like speeding and consuming
alcohol were rampant. It should also be noted there
were no laws requiring boaters to take an approved
operators’ course and it would take many years to
change all this behavior.

The Federal Government would later mandate that
everyone operating a powered vessel with over
10HP pass an approved boater’s course after April
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1st, 1999. This however, did little to change the
viewpoints of liquor consumption on the waterways.

In 1987, the City hired Joe Pietracci as the Harbour
Master, who was a newly retired Staff Sargent with
an outdoor background. To say he was an imposing
figure would be an understatement. Joe started his
law enforcement career with the North Kildonan
Police 1955. He came over to the Winnipeg Police
during the amalgamation in 1972 and attained

the rank of Staff Sergeant before retiring from the
departmentin 1987.

Joe was an old-school policeman and his original
Winnipeg Police badge number was 77! He was truly
a proactive officer that wasn’t scared of conflict, and
backed by his menacing size others rarely tried him.
Those who did would find out very quickly what a
mistake that was. Big Joe brought his 30 plus years
of Police experience to the waterways and that’s
when things really started to change.



Joe created a visible presence for the Harbour Patrol and for the

first time obtained uniforms that helped with the creditability of the
newly formed unit. In 1988, | was hired as an additional Harbour
Patrol Assistant along with former Toronto Police officer George
Anderson, and we were paired together to meet the growing demand
of the summer patrols. In 1989, Mark Bachus would be added as an
additional new Harbour Patrol Assistant and he would be paired with
Dennis Antony. This way, there would be two shifts with every day of
the week being covered. As the harbour Master, Joe Pietracci would
supervise the two units.

When | first started as a part-time summer assistant in 1988, the unit
had a small office located off the basement parking area of the PSB.
Their boats were moored at the Pritchard Boat docks (built at the end
of Pritchard Avenue in the North End) where a workshop existed. For
a while we also used Buchanan Marine by the Louise Bridge.

In 1990 the unit took over the James Avenue Pumphouse located

at the Juba docks. This building used to pump water to the City
Hydro Station across the road to cool the generators. The boats were
moored underneath the pumping station catwalk that had chain link
fencing to secure the perimeter.

The building had no insulation, no intact water supply, and the toilet
flushed directly into the river though this wasn’t discovered until much
later. One side of the small building was set up as an office while the
other side was used to store equipment and off-road vehicles. The city
attempted to repair the building but it remained inadequate for hous-
ing employees and an issue for workplace health and safety.

In 2002 the unit moved to the Redboine docks where they rented a
building to use until their own new building at 409 Mulvey Avenue
was finished. The approximately 3000 square foot building would be
shared between the River Patrol and the Winnipeg Police Dive Unit.
Both units moved into the building in 2004-2005.

-"- . . i
River Patrol (2009)
wrong design but still used

River Patrol (2010-present)
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George William

MALTBY

Chief of Police,

St. James
(1960-1970)

By John Burchill, President
Winnipeg Police Museum
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Chief Maltby, St. James-Assiniboia PD, 1969

orn at Hull, Yorkshire, England on August 23,1914, In April 1944 George returned to England, married

George Maltby began his police career with the Muriel Corp and then spent the next two years with
Hull City Police on May 13, 1935. He was promoted Bomber Command serving in Europe, Burma and
to Sergeant in 1949 and Inspector in 1952 workingin ~ South East Asia flying 4-engine Lancasters. After
central, western, traffic and prosecutions divisions demobilization in 1946 he returned to his work with
before retiring after 25 years of service in 1960. the Hull City Police.

During World War Il George joined the Royal Air Force  In 1959 the Sandmeyers sent George a letter saying
in 1941 (air crew) and trained as pilot. In 1942 he that the St. James Police Force was looking for a
was seconded to the Commonwealth Air Training new police chief and would he be interested? Fondly
Programme and sent to Canada. He was based remembering his time in Canada, George sent off
mainly in North Battleford and Calgary where he a letter of interest with his current qualifications.
trained young RCAF pilots in Cessna Cranes and Areply came saying that the current deputy police
Oxfords. chief (Joseph Bagley) would fill the vacancy, but

would he be interested in taking the deputy chief’s
position until Bagley retired in two years? He was,
and off he went for an interview at the Canadian High
Commission in London regarding immigration details.

During his time in North Battleford, George was
billeted with the Sandmeyer family, who remained in
contact with him for many years after the war ended.
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Hull City Police 1935, George right seated (collar No. 368)

Although not officially able to retire until he had
25-years of service on May 13, 1960, Hull City’s Chief
Constable Sidney Lawrence allowed George to use
accumulated time to leave earlier for St. James.

George’s appointment was announced on December
18, 1959, and he officially started in January 1960.
George was subsequently promoted to Chief of
Police for St. James on November 1, 1962, when
Bagley retired.

When George and his family initially arrived in St.
James they were met by Constable Ken Johnston
who helped them settle in. George knew Ken well as
they had both worked together at Hull City Police.
Ken had immigrated to Canada a few years earlier and
joined the Winnipeg Police in 1956. Ken would rise to
become the Chief of the Winnipeg Police in 1981.

During George’s time with the St. James Police he
oversaw the absorption of the Town of Brooklands
Police in 1967, and the amalgamation with the R.M.
of Assiniboia Police in 1969.

At the time St. James and Assiniboia Police merged
in 1969, George oversaw one of the larger and most
progressive police departments in the Winnipeg
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George Maltby in RAF Flight Uniform

metro area and it was not without its own significant
crime problems from robbery to murder.

One of the biggest cases, at least the most
notorious, that George had as Chief of the St. James
Police was the March 1, 1966, gold bullion “heist”

at the Winnipeg International Airport (which was
within the jurisdiction of the St. James Police).

The heist was orchestrated by Ken Leishman, also
known as the “Flying Bandit” for his numerous
crimes during the 1950s and early 1960s that
included flying to Toronto to rob banks. However,

it was the theft of nearly 600 pounds worth of gold
bullion (almost $16 million today) from the Winnipeg
International Airport that made national headlines.

TransAir was an airline that connected northwest
Ontario and Winnipeg. Leishman knew that it
regularly flew gold bullion from Red Lake, Ontario
to the Winnipeg International Airport where it was
transferred to an Air Canada flight bound for the
Royal Canadian Mint in Ottawa.

Leishman’s plan was simple. When the flight arrived,
the they stole an Air Canada Cargo van from an
airport parking lot and drove onto the tarmac.
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St James PD
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N°W-3939 21-3-66

Ken Leishman, 1966 St. James arrest photo

Dressed in Air Canada uniforms they met the plane, showed
the TransAir ground crew a fake waybill and the 12 wooden
boxes of gold were transferred into to their van and they
drove away.

The abandoned Air Canada truck was soon located and
suspecting the well-thought out plan had been the work
of a mastermind, they suspected Leishman and began
investigating all contacts. It didn’t take long before they
found the trail and the gold bars in a backyard. On March 20,
1966, Leishman was charged with conspiracy and robbery.

Not long after, on the evening of September 1, 1966,
Leishman was one of ten prisoners who escaped from
Headingley Jail. In spite of roadblocks and a massive
manhunt Leishman, with three others, stole a car and drove
to Steinbach where they stole a plane and flew to Gary,
Indiana. Captured, Leishman was returned to Winnipeg and
locked up at the old Vaughan Street Jail (which was used as
the police lock-up for department’s other than Winnipeg).

On October 30, 1966, Leishman managed to pick the lock on
the old steel door of his cell and escape through a back door
and over a fence. Four hours after his escape, Leishman was
arrested by two officers from the West Kildonan Police. On
November 1, 1966, Leishman plead guilty to all the charges
against him. He was eventually released and died in a plane
crash in 1979 while on a medivac mission.

The story of Leishman’s exploits are the subject of several
books and a 2005 Documentary Ken Leishman: The Flying
Bandit made by Frantic Films in association with History
Television, which is now available online (watch the film for
footage of Chief Maltby from 16:18-16:30).

George remained Chief of the combined St. James-
Assiniboia Police Department until April 1, 1970, when he
officially resigned to accept an appointment as Manitoba’s
first Ombudsman, a position he held until 1982. He was
appointed to the Order of the Buffalo Hunt in 1972. 1

1 Established by the provincial government in 1957, Manitoba’s
Order of the Buffalo Hunt was the highest honour the province could
bestow on individuals who demonstrated outstanding skills in the
areas of leadership, service, and community commitment until the
Order of Manitoba was established in 1999. The Order of the Buffalo
Hunt is still presented for noteworthy achievements in sports and
other public endeavours.
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Former Manitoba Ombudsman and Winnipeg Police
Board Vice-Chair Barry Tuckett, who worked under
George and was a friend for 20 years, told me that
when he was first hired at the Ombudsman’s Office
in 1978 he found Mr. Maltby to be quite intimidating.

“This was no fault of Mr. Maltby. | was
working for a former Chief of Police who
was now the Ombudsman, and | could

see that he was a no nonsense, straight-
laced individual whose presence drew
respect. One could tell at the outset that
this was a hard working, learned man that
would not be baffled by fiction or fooled by
pretenders. You had to know what you were
talking about and you had to demonstrate
common sense and compassion. To work
for Mr. Maltby, you had to have a good
sense of right and wrong, and demonstrate
it through your work’.

Others also spoke of George based on their
knowledge of him and his work. Val Werier, a reporter
for whom he had a great deal of respect, wrote in an
article when George came to the defence of an inmate
whose property had disappeared in a correctional
institution. Mr. Werier stated “l admire Mr. Maltby’s
tenacity in going after the authorities in the aid

of a man charged with murder. It illustrates the
Ombudsman’s respect for the rights of an individual
no matter how unpopular the cause may be”.

Following George’s retirement as Ombudsman

in 1982, he was appointed to the Complaints
Committee of the College of Physicians and
Surgeons; he received an Honorary Doctor of Laws
from the University of Winnipeg in 1982; and was
founding Chairman of the Manitoba Press Council in
1984. He had also been a member of the St. James
Kiwanis Club and Vice-President of the Woodlawn
Community Club.

George died at Winnipeg on July 27, 1999. His wife
Muriel died just six weeks later. George was survived
by his son David, daughter-in-law Mimi, and
grandchildren Alex and Madeleine.
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I would like to acknowledge the assistance of
George’s son, David Maltby, who graciously provided
a number of pictures for this article.

Ombudsman Maltby and his new staff, May 23, 1970

George Maltby, Honorary Doctor of Laws, University of
Winnipeg, October 17, 1982



oticing a problem with the front end of the

1987 Ford Crown Victoria, Museum restoration
specialist Derk Derin decided to take a closer
look at the braking system and discovered a front
caliper had seized on the passenger side. This led to
Police Garage Supervisor Lee Trakalo attending the
Museum warehouse to inspect all the brakes and
provide his thoughts and expertise. The Museum
has a very close working relationship with the Police
Garage, and the mechanics have always been ready
to help out with our vehicles!

Due to the age of the car and the condition of some
components, the decision was made to replace the
entire braking system of the vehicle. This would
include both front rotors/calipers/pads, both rear
drums/cylinders/pads, all rubber brake hoses, and
the master cylinder. All the parts were acquired
through Central Transport at 986 Wall Street, and the
Museum would like to thank all the parts department
staff who are definitely some of the most friendly,
helpful, and hard-working people around! Jessica
Butler and Wayne Dearman in particular, went above
and beyond to locate needed parts, and Jessica even
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managed to source a new master cylinder for our
35-year-old vehicle!

While assessing the car, Lee also took stock of
equipment at the Museum Warehouse, and it was
quickly determined a new torch set would be required
along with a few other useful and handy items. Tools
are endeared amongst mechanics, and in short order
a MIG welder and plasma cutter also arrived along
with the torch kit and new gas cylinders.

With tools and parts on hand, Derk, Lee, and Rod
Hutter commenced what would soon become a small
odyssey of repairs and upgrades on this original

black and white Winnipeg Police cruiser car. Derk
already had the front-end components taken apart
and within no time Lee had all the brakes painted and
reassembled which included new front bearings. With
the new master cylinder in place, fresh brake fluid
was pumped through the lines to flush them with the
entire system being bled adjusted afterwards.

As with any old vehicle, once you get going and are
on a roll, all sorts of things can happen. Mechanics
know all too well that one repair often leads to



another in somewhat of a domino effect, and it was
no different for this time around with the 1987 Ford.
The shocks were all replaced next, and then a new
set of tires were purchased (including the spare).
According to Derk, a car cannot have brand new tires
without cleaning up the rims, so those ended up
being sandblasted and painted as well. Lee Trakalo
and Karl Yeo from the Police Garage also played a
pivotal role in cleaning up the rims and installing
the tires which of course included balancing. A

tune up was next but not before Derk removed the
entire front interior and repaired some corrosion he
found on the floor pan. New rubberized flooring was
provided from the Police Garage, being surplus from
a recently purchased van that was being upfitted
with a custom interior for a specialty unit.
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The Museum would again like to thank Derk and
Lee for their assistance with repairing the 1987
Ford and we really do appreciate their help.
Fortunately, both are more than willing to work
for Beef Donair from the Baraka Pita Bakery &
Restaurant on Main Street!




JOHANN (JOE) GALLAGHER
Deputy Chief of Police, Winnipeg (1965-1994)

By John Burchill, President, Winnipeg Police Museum

Joe Gallagher, Manitoba Police Commission

Joe Gallagher, 1987 law school graduate
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I n 2022 Joe Gallagher stepped down as a member
of the Winnipeg Police Museum Board after serving
two terms, including that of Treasurer. While we will
miss Joe on the Board, he is still active in policing
issues as the President of the Winnipeg Police
Veterans Association Board, and | often look to him
for sage advice.

Few members of the Winnipeg Police have impacted
policing as much as Joe. Besides his work with the
Police Museum and the Veterans Association, Joe
was a member of the Winnipeg Police Credit Union
Board and the Manitoba Police Commission Board.

Born and raised in Winnipeg, Joe joined the
Winnipeg Police on June 7, 1965, at the age of 21
(which was the minimum age for constables at
the time). He graduated from Recruit Class #63 in
November 1965, following in the footsteps of his
older brother who had joined the RCMP.

From the beginning Joe was a team player, getting
involved in athletic events with his peers, including
the Winnipeg City Police baseball team that played
in the Industrial Fastball League.

Joe first caught the camera’s eye when he was
featured in the Winnipeg Free Press walking the
downtown beat in his buffalo coat and answering
calls during the winter of 1966.

With a penchant for learning sparked by his recruit
class lectures, Joe applied for and was accepted

to the University of Winnipeg’s Bachelor of Arts
program in 1968. However, at the time, there was
no thought of accommodating aspiring officers
who wanted to better their education, and Joe had
to seek an unpaid leave of absence if he wanted to
attend school.

So, for the first year, that is what he did. However,
for the 